IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 68619

JOHN EARL BUSH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED

SID A. WHITE

MAY 7 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By: *Danya*
Chief Deputy Clerk

✓

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Collateral
Representative

STEVEN H. MALONE
Senior Assistant

SONDRA GOLDENFARB
Assistant
Office of Capital Collateral
Representative
Univ. of So. Fla. - Bayboro
140 7th Ave So., RM COQ-216
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
(813) 893-9186

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from the trial court denial, without evidentiary hearing, of Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgment[s] and Sentences brought under Fla.R.Cr.Pr. 3.850. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as "Mr. Bush" or "defendant" for the Defendant John Earl Bush; and "state" for Appellee State of Florida.

The following abbreviations will be used: "R" refers to the record on direct appeal, including the transcript of Mr. Bush's trial; the Motion to Vacate Judgment[s] and Sentences filed by Mr. Bush in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit (Martin County, Florida) shall be referred to as the "Motion"; exhibits contained in the three-volume appendix submitted with the Motion shall be "App., Ex. [letter designation]."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Mr. Bush was charged in Martin County with first degree murder, armed robbery, and kidnapping, to which he entered pleas of not guilty. After a jury

trial, in Lee County (on a change of venue), Mr. Bush was convicted as charged. The penalty phase jury, by a 7-5 vote, recommended a death sentence, and trial judge Trowbridge imposed that sentence, along with life sentences on the robbery and kidnapping charges. This court affirmed; rehearing was denied. Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1984). A Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied, as was clemency.

The Governor signed a death warrant on March 20, 1986. Execution was scheduled for April 22, 1986. Mr. Bush filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment[s] and Sentences on April 21, 1986, along with a Motion for Stay of Execution. Judge Trowbridge heard argument, denied the Motion for Stay, and denied the 3.850 Motion, all without evidentiary hearing. An immediate Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed along with a Motion for Stay of Execution which was granted. This Court has now established a briefing and argument schedule on Mr. Bush's appeal, pursuant to which this initial brief of defendant Mr. Bush is being filed.

No written order has been entered by Judge Trowbridge explaining the reasons for denial of the 3.850 Motion, nor is a transcript of his oral denial (in which he does set forth his reasons) available to counsel at

this time.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening in question, Mr. Bush, a young black man, got together with Alfonso Cave, "Pig" Parker, and Terry Wayne Johnson in Fort Pierce, Florida. After a few drinks, they purchased a gallon of gin (R. 768), drank it, and proceeded to travel in Mr. Bush's car towards Stuart, intending to go to Palm Beach (R. 814). They reached Martin County at approximately 11:00 p.m. and stopped briefly at a store in Stuart. Then they drove out toward Indiantown and stopped at another store (R. 845). Mr. Bush went in and bought a bag of potato chips. For the next several hours they rode around in Stuart.

Finally, the group headed back towards Fort Pierce and again stopped at the store where Frances Slater, an eighteen year old white female worked (R. 817). Mr. Bush went in to purchase a pack of cigarettes. Cave and Parker got out of the car and came up behind him as Frances Slater was coming from the back of the store. Cave then pulled a gun on her (R. 819). Cave and Parker told her to open the cash register and the floor safe (R. 819). Cave pulled Slater out of the store with him and ordered Mr. Bush to pick up the money bag. Cave and Parker put her in

the back seat of Mr. Bush's car and told Mr. Bush to drive away (R. 819).

Mr. Bush was driving south on U.S. 1 when his companions told him to head towards Indiantown (R. 819). Then Cave and Parker ordered Mr. Bush to stop (R. 820). Slater was put out of the car; Mr. Bush's statement pretrial and testimony at trial was that it was his intention to let her go at that point (R. 821). However, Cave and Parker decided that she might be able to identify them; they therefore told Mr. Bush to get rid of her. Cave gave his knife to Mr. Bush after Mr. Bush refused to take the gun (R. 822). Mr. Bush, not wanting to kill the girl, faked a blow at her with the knife and stabbed her superficially. The woman fell to the ground (R. 820). Mr. Bush then turned to get back into the car when he heard a shot fired by Parker. This was the fatal gunshot wound to the victim's head. (R. 837).

On the following Saturday morning, after the police had seized Mr. Bush's car pursuant to a search warrant, Mr. Bush went to the Martin County Sheriff's Department to see about his car. At that point, Lloyd Jones, a black detective, questioned Mr. Bush about the Slater murder investigation. Detective Jones read Mr. Bush his rights, and asked Mr. Bush to repeat them on the tape. Mr. Bush

tried to read them back, but because of his limited education, he stumbled over several phrases (R. 687-688). Mr. Bush denied any involvement in the crime and further stated that he was in Palm Beach at the time of the murder. The detectives questioned Mr. Bush, repeatedly and persistently referred to the fact that "only one person pulled the trigger," and told Mr. Bush he should think about that before denying involvement in the crime.

The officers questioned Mr. Bush for approximately an hour and a half. Following the interrogation, Mr. Bush remained at the Sheriff's Department, where he stayed all day. The detectives, particularly Charles Jones and Lloyd Jones, both black, continued to talk with Mr. Bush about the Slater murder (R. 631).

At approximately 3:00 p.m. on that Saturday, Mr. Bush agreed to go with Detective Jones to West Palm Beach to check out his alibi. Another deputy also went with them (R. 632). They attempted to locate Mr. Bush's alibi witness, but the witness didn't show.

After dinner, Mr. Bush decided to make another statement to the detectives. At this point, Mr. Bush was not reread his rights, but Jones took the statement from him anyway (R. 638) at approximately 7:35 p.m. The last time Mr. Bush was advised of his rights had been eleven

hours earlier, prior to his first statement at 8:40 a.m. that morning (R. 742). During this second statement, Mr. Bush identified his three companions during the evening of the murder. Mr. Bush described his involvement in the incident but denied stabbing or shooting the woman (R. 749-757).

After taking this statement, the detectives brought Mr. Bush back to the Sheriff's Department in Stuart, where a third statement was taken from him at 9:20 p.m. (R. 767-786). Mr. Bush had now been with the detectives for over thirteen hours. Detective Charles Jones advised Mr. Bush of his rights prior to this third statement (R. 763). The third statement was, to a large degree, confirmatory of the second statement. Mr. Bush again denied stabbing Slater (R. 769). Mr. Bush admitted that he felt remorseful at Slater's death. In fact, he said, "I hate that she's dead, because I have sisters at home." (R. 778).

After this third statement, Mr. Bush was placed under arrest. The next morning he was taken before a magistrate for a probable cause hearing.

On May 7, 1982, the Jail Administrator of the Martin County Jail "received information" that Mr. Bush wanted to talk to Sheriff John Holt (R. 650). At that point,

Sheriff Holt went to the jail and talked to Mr. Bush. Sheriff Holt told him that he would have to get in touch with his attorney because an attorney had been appointed to represent him (R. 652). Mr. Bush was led to the telephone where he called Attorney Richard Schopp. After Mr. Bush spoke with Schopp, Sheriff Holt spoke with Schopp. Schopp told Holt that he advised Mr. Bush not to talk to the Sheriff, but Mr. Bush told him that he was going to talk anyway (R. 655). After the telephone conversation, Mr. Bush was taken to the Detective Bureau where a fourth statement was taken from him. Mr. Bush's reason for making the fourth statement was to make it clear that he did not shoot Slater, that he did not pull the trigger (R. 812). He admitted stabbing her, but he explained that he felt he had no other choice (R. 812). All four statements were introduced at trial.

The record shows considerable confusion as to Mr. Bush's legal representation during this crucial period. After Mr. Bush's arrest on May 4, and arraignment on May 5, 1982, the Public Defender office, anticipating that it would be representing the defendant, sent letters to the state attorney, and to county and city law enforcement personnel requesting that no contact be made with Mr. Bush without prior notification of the office, in order to

protect Mr. Bush's fifth and sixth amendment rights (R. 1320, 1322, 1324, 1326, 1328, 1330, 1332). However, that office was unable to represent Mr. Bush because of conflict with the other co-defendants (R. 1334-36), whereupon private attorney Schopp was appointed on May 6, 1982 (R. 1318). On that same day, the appointment was formally rescinded (R. 1315), apparently without the knowledge of Attorney Schopp (who, on May 17 and 18, was still filing motions with the court on Mr. Bush's behalf, R. 1343-58). Mr. Bush's actual trial counsel Muschott was appointed on May 18, 1982.

On May 12, 1982, without notifying Schopp or any other attorney representing Mr. Bush, detectives placed Mr. Bush in a physical lineup for the purpose of allowing potential witnesses to identify him (R. 363, App., Ex. UU at 39-40). No attorney representing Mr. Bush was notified or was present at the time of the lineup (R. 364).

On August 3, 1982, pursuant to motion, an order was entered appointing a psychiatrist and a psychologist to examine the defendant (R. 1526). Attorney Muschott advised Dr. Tingle, the court-appointed psychiatrist, of the appointment and requested consultation to determine competency to stand trial and the existence of duress and mitigation. Counsel met with Tingle for a half-hour. The

two men apparently decided (without the psychiatrist ever seeing Mr. Bush) that an examination would be fruitless. No psychiatric or psychological evaluation was done of Mr. Bush (App., Ex. Q).

During the trial, one of the state witnesses, Danielle Symons, indicated that she had been present at the above-described lineup (R. 350). The witness was shown a photograph of the lineup and indicated that she had identified one of the individuals in the photograph as someone whom she had previously seen in connection with the crime (R. 351).

The state then called the detective who took the photograph of the lineup and sought to introduce the photograph into evidence (R. 364). The defense attorney entered an objection on the grounds that the state had failed to establish as a predicate that the defendant was represented at the lineup or that he had waived his rights to have an attorney present at the lineup (R. 364). The court overruled the objection on the grounds that the lineup occurred prior to the indictment of the defendant on May 20, 1982, and the photograph was admitted into evidence (R. 365). The detective thereafter proceeded to identify Mr. Bush as the individual in the photograph, and testified that he was the same person identified at the

lineup by Danielle Symons (R. 366).

Two forensic science experts testified at Mr. Bush's trial (and at the trials of all co-defendants): Dr. Ronald Keith Wright, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy of the victim, and Daniel C. Nippes, a criminalist who "placed" the victim in Mr. Bush's car on the night of the murder by the use of fiber and hair analysis. Muschott did not cross-examine Dr. Wright on two critical areas of his testimony: 1) that the superficiality of the stab wound was caused by the victim's attempting to take evasive action (R. 466-7); and 2) that the victim's bladder release resulted from the victim's fear prior to death (R. 471). Nippes testified that hair from the victim found in defendant's car had been "forcibly removed" (R. 920); defense counsel conducted no cross-examination of Nippes whatsoever (R. 921).

The victim was the granddaughter of Frances Langford and Ralph Evinrude, prominent citizens of Martin County (R. 31). Her parents are in the newspaper business in the county (R. 32). Extensive pre-trial publicity necessitated the change in venue to Lee County. The state repeatedly during voir dire of potential jury members and during argument reminded the panel of who the victim's

forebears were. The victim's family was present in the courtroom and behaved in such a way as to require Judge Trowbridge to remind them, on two record occasions, of proper courtroom decorum (R. 1026, 1295 - and see App., Ex. A, C, and F).

After the state closed, the defense introduced no witnesses on Mr. Bush's behalf, apparently relying on his fourth statement to police - already in evidence - to present his case. During closing arguments, in addition to arguing the law of felony-murder and of principals, the prosecutor advised the jury that Mr. Bush had fired the fatal bullet (R. 922), although the only evidence presented during trial which would conceivably have supported such an argument was Nippes' testimony that a .38 "live round" bullet had been found in Mr. Bush's car under the front seat on the drivers side (R. 914).

After jury verdicts of guilty as charged on all three counts, the state at penalty phase relied on guilt phase testimony and only added evidence of Mr. Bush's prior felony conviction; the sole defense witness was Mr. Bush himself, who took the witness stand against his attorney's advice (R. 1292). During penalty phase closing argument, the state specifically directed the jury's attention to the victim's family, sitting down to

Thanksgiving dinner and seeing the victim's twin sister-an argument termed "improper" by this Court in its original Bush affirmance.

The court's instructions to the jury included statements to the effect that the final decision rested solely with the trial judge (R. 1127, 1287). The jury returned a recommendation of death, on a 7-5 majority vote (R. 1295).

In accordance with the jury's recommendation, Judge Trowbridge imposed the death sentence, finding three aggravating circumstances and no circumstances in mitigation. As aggravating circumstances, the court found defendant's previous conviction of a violent felony, the commission of the homicide in the course of kidnapping and robbery, and that the homicide was committed in a "cold, calculated, and premeditated manner" (R. 1301-4). In discussing possible mitigating circumstances and then discarding them, the court found that defendant's participation in the offense was not relatively minor, in part because the judge did not believe defendant's lack of intent (R. 1304-5); and that defendant did not act under duress or domination, because there was no evidence to support that claim (R. 1306). In summing up, the Court said: "Frankly, I find the record totally devoid of

anything that may be said in your own behalf (R. 1307)."

*

*

*

*

Other facts alleged in defendant's motion and supporting appendices but not part of the original record will be discussed in conjunction with the specific claims below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: Mr. Bush filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment[s] and Sentences with the circuit court. After hearing argument, the judge summarily denied the Motion without affording an opportunity for an evidentiary hearing on any of the seven claims presented in the motion. Five of those claims require an evidentiary hearing to permit Mr. Bush to prove his allegations. A sufficient proffer was made as to each claim to demonstrate that the record does not and cannot "conclusively refute" the factual allegations. Under the prevailing case law, the claims themselves, which include inter alia allegations that the court-appointed psychiatrist performed inadequately in failing to conduct any evaluation; that Mr. Bush was in fact incompetent to stand trial; and that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel, require an evidentiary hearing.

Issue II: Mr. Bush's motion contains seven claims,

none of which are frivolous and all of which present substantial constitutional issues. The trial court's summary denial of all seven issues constitutes error.

Claim I: The failure of the court-appointed psychiatrist to do any mental evaluation of Mr. Bush violates the United States Supreme Court requirement in Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. ____, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 55 (1985) that an indigent receive competent expert psychiatric assistance. That failure was prejudicial in light of the recent evaluation of Mr. Bush, which shows that: he was incompetent to stand trial; there was present evidence of duress and coercion and of lack in intent which could have been used in his defense; his admissions to police officers were "involuntary"; and substantial emotional and psychological mitigation was available.

Claim II: Mr. Bush was in fact incompetent to stand trial, and therefore his convictions and sentences violate his constitutional due process rights.

Claim III: Mr. Bush received the ineffective assistance of counsel, in that numerous omissions by his trial attorney cannot be justified by any reasonable trial strategy and in fact resulted in the prejudice called for under the Strickland test, to wit, but for the deficiencies, the result (conviction and death sentence)

is reasonably likely to have been different. In addition to failing to assure that a competent mental evaluation was conducted, trial counsel failed to suppress damaging evidence, failed to attend critical depositions, failed to prepare for rebuttal of damaging expert testimony, failed to formulate any strategy at penalty phase, failed to seek crucial jury instructions, and in general, failed to render professionally adequate representation.

Claim IV: The state intentionally introduced evidence and argument to the effect that Mr. Bush had shot the fatal bullet, despite its knowledge that co-defendant Parker was the shooter. The state had no evidence to support an inference that Mr. Bush fired the gun; nonetheless, it told the jury that he had done so. This blatant misrepresentation of the facts is facially prejudicial and impermissible under prevailing case law, both state and federal.

Claim V: Prosecutorial appeals to sympathy for the family of the victim were pervasive throughout the trial. The one comment during the state's closing argument to which defense counsel objected was viewed in isolation on direct appeal, and found by this court to be "harmless error." In fact, that single comment was part of a structured, intentional effort on the part of the

state to use the disruptive atmosphere in the courtroom to capitalize on a course of conduct in which the state was clearly seeking to elicit an improper and emotional response from the jury. In light of the new standards for measuring prosecutorial misconduct in argument, as set forth in Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. ___, 105 S.Ct. 2633 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985) the inflammatory argument constitutes fundamental error and taints both conviction and sentence.

Claim VI: Penalty phase jury instructions which improperly advised the jury that the trial judge was the sole decision maker as to what sentence would be imposed were improper and violate the standards established in Caldwell v. Mississippi, supra. The sentence therefore cannot stand.

Claim VII: Racial factors play an improper role in the imposition of Florida's death sentence. Statistical evidence not available until after Mr. Bush's trial demonstrate that the death penalty in Florida is disproportionately imposed on black defendants who kill white victims - which is the case here. Because of the intrusion of the impermissible factor of race into the sentencing determination, Florida's capital statute as applied is unconstitutional.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING defendant'S
FACIALLY SUFFICIENT MOTION TO VACATE
JUDGMENT[S] AND SENTENCES WITHOUT FIRST
CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Mr. Bush's post-conviction motion, filed pursuant to Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.850, contains seven separate claims. Those claims are all appropriate for post-conviction relief and five require an evidentiary hearing to resolve disputed facts.

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