IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN EARL BUSH,) Appellant,) v.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.) CASE NO. 68,619

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32301

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

	PAGE
LIST OF CITATIONS	ii-ix
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2-3
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	4-21
POINTS ON APPEAL	22
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	23
ARGUMENT	

POINT I

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, SINCE RECORD DEMONSTRATED CONCLUSIVELY THAT

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

Furthermore, each of Appellant's seven (7) claims were appropriately denied by the trial court, since each one was conclusively rebutted by the Record, were without merit, and did not warrant post-conviction relief in any respect.

- 23 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, SINCE RECORD DEMONSTRATED CONCLUSIVELY THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON ANY CLAIM.

Appellant has initially maintained that the trial court erred, in denying five of his seven claims in his post-conviction relief motion, without an evidentiary hearing. It is clear from the nature of such claims, and the Record of Appellant's trial and sentencing proceedings, that said claims were both inappropriately brought on a collateral basis, <u>and</u> were conclusively rebutted by the Record so as to mandate affirmance of the trial court's denial of relief.

This Court has consistently held that in a capital case, where both the motion and Record conclusively demonstrate no entitlement to relief, a capital defendant is <u>not</u> entitled to an evidentiary hearing. <u>Harich v. State</u>, 11 FLW 119 (Fla., March 18, 1986); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 482 So.2d 1360, 1361-1362 (Fla. 1986); <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 736, 737-738 (Fla. 1985); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); <u>Middleton</u> <u>v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985). Appellant's motion, when viewed in light of a Record that he selectively ignores in his brief, clearly demonstrates that the trial court correctly determined that all claims could be denied, without resort to an evidentiary hearing. <u>Harich</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Porter</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Middleton</u>, <u>supra</u>.

It should initially be noted that the trial court correctly and appropriately determined that several of Appellant's claims were improvi-

- 24 -

dently raised on a motion for collateral relief. Specifically, the trial court's conclusions that Appellant's claim <u>IV</u> (the alleged misrepresentation of evidence by the prosecution to the jury); <u>V</u> (allegedly improper and inflammatory prosecutorial arguments); <u>VI</u> (the alleged impropriety of penalty phase jury instructions); and <u>VII</u> (the allegedly discriminatory imposition of the death penalty based on improper racial influences), (T, 85-86), was appropriately based on the fact that such claims were, should or could have been raised by objection at trial, and direct appeal. <u>Stone, supra; Troedel, supra; Sireci v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); <u>Middleton, supra; O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). Because this Court has consistently held such claims to be non-cognizable on a motion for post-conviction relief, Appellant's arguments to the contrary are totally without merit. Id.

Appellant has additionally maintained that his claim of an absence of a competent mental evaluation of Appellant, and the allegedly resulting deprivation of effective psychiatric assistance, is cognizable on a post-conviction motion. Appellant supports this statement by relying on the decision in <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S.___, 105 S.Ct 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 55 (1985), as having amounted to a "fundamental change in the law." Appellant's Initial Brief, at 17. By such citation and argument, Appellant thus <u>concedes</u> that this issue was not appropriately brought, but for the alleged benefit of <u>Ake</u>, <u>supra</u>, which would purportedly permit the raising of this claim, as the result of a fundamental change in the law, for the first time on collateral review. Witt v. State, 387 So.2d

- 25 -

922 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 449 U.S. 1067 (1980). An examination of relevant case law demonstrates that the <u>Ake</u> decision did not provide the type of <u>Witt</u> "change in the law," that would enable Appellant to properly bring such a claim, for the first time, collaterally.

In Witt, supra, this Court determined that a claim would not be cognizable under Rule 3.850, for the first time, unless it was the result of a "change in the law" or "jurisprudential upheaval" that either placed an individual beyond the State's power to punish, or was of such magnitude as to require retroactive application. Witt, supra, at 979. The Ake decision cannot be characterized as such an upheaval or radical alteration of the law. At most, the decision represents the application of established rules of law that provide that a defendant is entitled to present certain defenses and defensive matters, such as insanity at the time of the offense, and to a fair and reliable determination of guilt or sentence, to certain factual circumstances involving insanity during the offense as a significant factor. Ake, 83 L.Ed.2d, supra, at 58, 60, 62, 66. The Ake decision did not alter in any way, the legal standards for determining issues such as incompetency to stand trial. Ake, supra; Bowden v. Kemp, 757 F.2d 761, 763, n. 3 (11th Cir. 1985). Significantly, at least one Federal District Court, within the Eleventh Circuit, has held Ake to be non-retroactive, in the context of collateral relief. Magwood v. Smith, 608 F.Supp. 218,221 (D.C. Ala 1985); also, see Solem v. Stumes, U.S., S.Ct, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984)(Powell, J, concurring opinion). Thus, the Ake decision merely effectuates the right of an indigent defendant to raise certain defensive matters, which cannot

- 26 -

constitute ground-breaking precedent or a "clean break with the past," a la <u>Miranda</u>, so as to qualify under the <u>Witt</u> exception. <u>Witt</u>, at 929. It should also be noted that the very <u>enunciation</u> of the principle that a capital defendant had a <u>right</u> to a fair and reliable sentencing determination (which is, at least in part, an underlying premise in <u>Ake</u>), by this Court, was not viewed as a sufficiently significant change in the law to be a <u>Witt</u> exception situation. <u>State v. Washington</u>, 453 So.2d 389, 392 (Fla. 1984). In view of the lack of recognition of one of the <u>rights</u> involved in <u>Ake</u>, as cognizable for the first time collaterally under <u>Witt</u>, the particularized circumstance in which said right was applied in <u>Ake</u> cannot be said to allow Appellant to bring this claim for the first time, in the present proceeding. <u>Stone; Troedel; Middleton; Witt</u>.

Appellant nevertheless maintains that the Record fails to show he was not entitled to relief. It is initially significant that the <u>Ake</u> decision is limited to the issue of providing access to a capital defendant, to psychiatric assistance, provided that such a defendant establishes, that <u>his sanity during the offense</u>, as a threshold issue, is likely to be a significant factor during guilt or sentencing. <u>Ake</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 60, 66-68; <u>Bowden</u>, <u>supra</u>. There was clearly no such defense, or likelihood of such a defense raised, as firmly established by the Record. The object of Appellant's defense was to demonstrate to the jury that Appellant was not a willing or voluntary part of the criminal episodes of the robbery, kidnapping or murder, and did not commit or participate in the firing of the fatal shots into the victim. (R, 333-335, 712, 722-724, 754-755, 784, 812, 820, 824, 828, 945-971, 999-1003, 1181, 1282-1286). To this end, it is

- 27 -

clear that such a defense, which held as its integral part the denial of the murder, or participation in it, would be wholly inconsistent with any claim of insanity, a defense which would concede the physical act but maintain that the performance of the act was the result of mental defect. <u>Middleton</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1224; <u>Funchess v. Wainwright</u>, 772 F.2d 683, 689-690 (11th Cir. 1985). This is substantiated by the fact of Appellant's testimony at trial (R, 1174-1262), <u>see Buford v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 943, 953 (Fla. 1981), as well as his apparent comprehension of his rights from the police, on all four occasions when he gave statements, all within ten days of the offense (R, 684-735; 749-757; 767-786; 808-848), and the nature of these statements. Furthermore, the State did not rely on psychiatric evidence at sentencing, thus making any of Appellant's rights under <u>Ake</u> at sentencing inapposite to Appellant's case.

More significantly, Appellant's reliance on Dr. Tingle's notes of his conversation with defense counsel, clearly afford him no relief on this ground. As indicated therein, (Appellant's Appendix to Motion to Vacate, Exhibit Q), there is nothing in Dr. Tingle's recollection that mental state at the time of the offense or at trial was to be a significant aspect of Appellant's defense.¹ (Exhibit Q). Additionally, there is nothing in the motion that indicates any kind of likelihood that sanity during the offense, or at trial, would have been a material issue or defense, had Dr. Tingle examined Appellant. Appellant is thus left with speculative, conclusory allegations, which clearly did not warrant an evidentiary determination.



¹ As to the implications and reasons for this, suggested by such material, regarding defense counsel's competence, these will be discussed in the "ineffective assistance of counsel" claim, <u>infra</u>.

Middleton; Bowden, at 765, n. 7.

In essence, Appellant's allegations on this point, would mandate a certain degree of particularized, thorough, and <u>favorable</u> psychiatric evaluations to be conducted, in all circumstances. This conclusion has been entirely rejected, even in the <u>Ake</u> decision itself. <u>Ake</u>, at 66; <u>Martin v. Wainwright</u>, 770 F.2d 918, 934-935 (11th Cir. 1985); <u>Finney v.</u> <u>Zant</u>, 709 F.2d 643, 645 (11th Cir. 1983). Appellant's argument that an evidentiary hearing should have been held on this claim, is really no more than a "bootstrap" of his claim that defense counsel was ineffective, for not having his client evaluated by Dr. Tingle. On its own <u>independent</u> merits, Appellant's <u>Ake</u> claim had no factual or legal basis, and would thus be properly rejected without a hearing by the trial court.

Appellant has also urged that, based on Dr. D'Amato's report and evaluation of Appellant, an evidentiary hearing on the issue of Appellant's competence to stand trial was mandated. Once again contrary to Appellant's conclusory assertions, the Record does conclusively show a lack of entitlement to relief on this ground.

Under Federal and Florida case precedent, a defendant's competence to stand trial is measured by whether he has sufficient present ability to consult with counsel, with a reasonable degree of understanding, and whether he has a rational and factual comprehension of the proceedings against him. <u>Pate v. Robinson</u>, 383 U.S. 375 (1966); <u>Dusky v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 362 U.S. 402 (1960); <u>Scott v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 595, 597 (Fla. 1982). Rule 3.211(a)(1), <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u>, delineates a non-exhaustive list of factors relevant to this legal criteria, including a defendant's ability

- 29 -

to appreciate the criminal charges and possible penalties against him, the adversarial nature of the trial process, ability to disclose relevant facts with counsel, assist in his defense, and testify relevantly. Rule 3.211(a)(1) et seq, supra. Appellant was not shown to have acted in any non-rational manner, at his trial, according to the Record. His statements to police, admitted at trial, demonstrate an ability to understand the charges of robbery, kidnapping and murder that were involved; a comprehension of his rights, and of the specific advisements that any statements could later be used against him; the adversarial nature of the criminal process, and a very strong ability to relate relevant facts and circumstances of the murder, including his own involvement, in great detail. (R, 686-735; 749-757; 767-786; 809-848). His testimony at sentencing (R, 1174-1262), definitely reflects an ability to rationally relate and comprehend crucial and relevant facts about the murder, and the nature of the adversarial process against him. Quite clearly, the mere fact of such testimony, and the fact that the propriety of it was discussed between Appellant and counsel (R, 1292), demonstrates rather precise ability to rationally consult with counsel. In sum, the Record absolutely and conclusively rebuts a claim of incompetency to stand trial. Pate; Dusky; Scott; Rule 3.211(a)(1), supra.

This conclusion is substantiated by the Motion itself, quoting certain of Dr. D'Amato's conclusions, upon his 1986 examination of Appellant. Appellant's Initial Brief, at 24-25. While there are certain conclusions and observations made as to the "possibility of impairment," "possible brain damage," impairment of judgment, an inability to think in the

- 30 -

abstract, and difficulty controlling his impulses, <u>none</u> of these observations offer anything, with regard to an inability in 1982 to understand the trial proceedings, and to consult with defense counsel with a rational and reasonable degree of understanding. <u>Pate; Dusky; Scott;</u> <u>Middleton</u>, at 1224. The factors counsel suggested were impairments in Appellant at the time of his trial, Appellant's Initial Brief, at 25-26, have no factual support, are conclusively rebutted by the Record, <u>Harich; Troedel; Middleton</u>, and do not in any way approach the facts and circumstances, which this Court decided did warrant an evidentiary hearing, in <u>Hill v. Florida</u>, 473 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985). The trial court's conclusion that the proffer was inadequate to support such a claim (T, 86), is supported by the Record. Id.

Appellant has next argued that his various claims, alleging ineffectiveness of trial counsel, required an evidentiary hearing. This claim cannot be appropriately analyzed, without specific and careful reference to the standard and relevant criteria, as set forth by the United States Supreme Court, in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, __U.S.__, 104 S.Ct 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). In <u>Strickland</u>, said Court announced the appropriate two-part test to be met by a defendant claiming that trial counsel was ineffective:

> First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's er-

> > - 31 -

rors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d, supra, at 693; Porter, supra, at 35; Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).

The Supreme Court emphasized that, regarding the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, a standard of reasonableness is to be applied to defense counsel's performance, viewed in light of all surrounding circumstances. <u>Strickland</u>, at 694-695. The Court further stressed that there was a strong presumption to be indulged by a reviewing court, that counsel's performance was reasonable and effective, and that his actions were within "the wide range of professionally competent assistance" and judgment. Id.

In defining and outlining the necessary requisite of demonstrating prejudice, as a result of defective performance, the Supreme Court emphasized that speculative suggestions in hindsight, and mere allegations of potential prejudice, would not suffice, in order to establish entitlement to relief on such a claim:

> Attorney errors come in an infinite variety and are as likely to be utterly harmless in a particular case as they are to be prejudicial. They cannot be classified according to likelihood of causing prejudice. Nor can they be defined with sufficient precision to inform defense attorneys correctly just what conduct to avoid. Representation is an art, and an act

> > - 32 -

or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another. Even if a defendant shows that particular errors of counsel were unreasonable, therefore, the <u>defendant</u> <u>must show that they actually had an ad</u>verse effect on the defense.

It is <u>not enough</u> for the defendant to show that the errors had <u>some conceiv</u>-<u>able effect on the outcome of the pro-</u> <u>ceeding</u>.

The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

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